# **Guide to the Sarah Refo Mason Papers**

**RG 175** 



Compiled by Lucas L. Schulte and Martha Lund Smalley

2004

409 Prospect Street
New Haven, CT 06511
(203) 432-5301
divinity.library@yale.edu
http://web.library.yale.edu/divinity/special-collections

# **Table of Contents**

Collection Overview	3
Requesting Instructions	3
Administrative Information	3
Immediate Source of Acquisition	3
Conditions Governing Access	4
Preferred Citation	4
Processing Information	4
Biographical / Historical	4
Scope and Contents	
Arrangement	8
Collection Contents	
Series I: Missionary Children Research Materials	9
Re. SRM Dissertation	9
Research files on missionary children	
Information and documents	
Audiotapes of interviews	
Background material: China Missions	11
Background material: China-U.S. Foreign Service	
Series II: Canton YMCA Research Materials	
Series III: True Light Middle School Research Materials	
Series IV: Women in China Missions Research Materials	
Series V: Lingnan University Research Materials	
Series VI: Hmong (Miao) People Research Materials	
Notes and collected material	
Articles re. Hmong (Miao)	
Series VII: Presbyterian Mission Home (Cameron House), San Francisco Research Materials, 1991	
Series VIII: Henry and Sarah F. Refo Family Papers, 1978-1983	
Series IX: Re. life and work of Sarah Refo Mason	
Biographical documentation	
Papers, publications, and presentations by SRM	
Midwest China Study Resource CenterOral History Project	
Correspondence with colleagues and others	
Correspondence with archives and organizations	
Additional collected material and notes	
Selected Search Terms	30

#### Collection Overview

**REPOSITORY:** Yale Divinity Library

409 Prospect Street New Haven, CT 06511 (203) 432-5301

divinity.library@yale.edu

http://web.library.yale.edu/divinity/special-collections

**CALL NUMBER: RG 175** 

CREATOR: Mason, Sarah Margaret Refo

TITLE: Sarah Refo Mason Papers

**DATES:** 1866-1999

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: 17 linear feet (43 boxes)

LANGUAGE: English

**SUMMARY:** This collection provides valuable collected research files on a variety of

subjects, including: missionary children, the Canton (Guangzhou) YMCA, True Light Middle School, women in China, Lingnan University, the Hmong (Miao) people, and the Presbyterian Mission Home (Cameron House) in San Francisco. The collection also contains documentation related to the life and work of Sarah Refo Mason and her parents, Henry and Sarah F. Refo. Sarah Refo Mason (1930-2002), the child of missionaries to China, graduated from the Shanghai American School and the College of Wooster. She received a doctorate in history from Northern Illinois University in 1978. Her dissertation research related to the children of missionaries and she also engaged in research projects related to Chinese history, women's history, Asian American history, and oral history. She taught at U.S. schools and at

Zhongshan University in Guangzhou, PRC.

**ONLINE FINDING AID:** To cite or bookmark this finding aid, please use the following link: https://

hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/divinity.175

## **Requesting Instructions**

To request items from this collection for use on site, please use the request links in the HTML version of this finding aid, available at <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/divinity.175">https://hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/divinity.175</a>.

Key to the container abbreviations used in the PDF finding aid:

b. box f. folder

#### **Administrative Information**

## **Immediate Source of Acquisition**

Gift of James Mason, 2003-2004

# **Conditions Governing Access**

The materials are open for research.

### **Preferred Citation**

Sarah Refo Mason Papers (RG 175), Special Collections, Yale Divinity School Library.

# **Processing Information**

Place names were modernized in the description, with the name originally used in the collection material or in an older version of the finding aid in parenthesis: e.g. "Beijing (Peking)" or "Benin (Dahomey)".

## Biographical / Historical

Diographical /	Historical
Date	Event
1930 Nov 3	o Sarah Margaret Refo was born in Memphis, Tennessee, second daughter of Henry Barron Refo (1898-1993) and Sarah Alice Flaniken (1895-1956). Her parents were educational missionaries in China who were on furlough in the U.S. at the time of Sarah's birth.
1931	<ul> <li>Refos returned to Guangzhou, where Henry was head of the science department of the secondary school of Lingnan University and instructor in the university's education department and Sarah Alice served as a counselor to graduates of the True Light Middle School attending Lingnan University.</li> </ul>
1937	$_{\odot}$ Refos returned to Tennesee where Henry was teacher and administrator in public schools
1939	<ul> <li>Refos went to Hong Kong, serving at True Light Middle School under auspices of Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. True Light Middle School had relocated from Guangzhou to Hong Kong during the Sino-Japanese war. Sarah and her three sisters attended British Diocesan School in Hong Kong.</li> </ul>
1942	<ul> <li>During the occupation of Hong Kong by the Japanese, the Refo family was placed in Stanley Prison with other American missionaries, business persons, etc. Later in 1942, they were repatriated to the U.S. on the Swedish ship Gripsholm and settled in Kentucky where Henry taught chemistry at Berea College.</li> </ul>
1946	o Refos returned to China to teach at True Light Middle School, which had reopened in Guangzhou. Sarah attended Shanghai American School
1948	$_{\odot}$ Sarah graduated from Shanghai American School and entered College of Wooster, Wooster, Ohio.
1952	<ul> <li>Sarah graduated from College of Wooster and married James Mason. The Masons worked at Camp Reinberg, near Chicago, during the summer and then settled in New York City, where Jim attended Union Theological Seminary.</li> </ul>
1954-1975	o Mason family based in Illinois as Jim Mason served in various positions. Children born: Rachel (1954); Joseph (1957); Roald (1960); Sarah Alice (1966).
1964	$_{\odot}$ Sarah began graduate studies in history at Northern Illinois University and taught at McHenry County College.

Date	Event
1970	$_{\odot}$ Sarah received M.A. in history from Northern Illinois University and began studies for doctorate in history at NIU.
1975	o Mason family moved to Minnesota.
1976-1978	$_{\odot}$ Sarah employed as oral history interviewer for Midwest China Center at Luther Theological Seminary, St. Paul, MN.
1978	o Sarah received Ph.D. from Northern Illinois University
1978-1981	o Sarah employed as researcher and writer in Ethnic History Project of Minnesota Historical Society, including interviews and research in Asian communities throughout the state. Contributed four chapters on Chinese, Filipinos, Koreans, and Southeast Asians in Minnesota to the book, <i>They Chose Minnesota: A Survey of Minnesota's Ethnic Groups</i> , edited by June D. Holmquist (St. Paul, 1981).
1981-1987	<ul> <li>Sarah assisted the Women's Association of Hmong and Lao, St. Paul as coordinator of the English language project for elderly Hmong women, and as consultant and proposal writer.</li> </ul>
1982	$_{\odot}$ Sarah traveled to China and contacted students of her parents at True Light School, former colleagues at Lingnan University, and former staff members of the Canton YMCA.
1982-1985	<ul> <li>Sarah worked as researcher, interviewer, and writer for the Southeast Asian Refugee Studies Project of the University of Minnesota.</li> </ul>
1984-1985	o Sarah received grant from Rockefeller Foundation for a national survey of employment training programs for Southeast Asian women in the United State. Results of this survey published in the book <i>Training Southeast Asian Women for Employment: Public Policies and Community Programs, 1975-1985</i> , by Sarah R. Mason (Minneapolis, 1986).
1986-1987	<ul> <li>Sarah served as professor of U.S. history, comparative cultures, and advanced writing (English) in the Department of Foreign Languages, Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, China.</li> </ul>
1987	$_{\odot}$ Sarah traveled in southwest China, visiting and conducting preliminary research in Miao communities.
1989-1990	$_{\odot}$ Sarah served as assistant professor of history at the University of Minnesota, Morris.
1990-1995	$_{\odot}$ Sarah conducted independent research, primarily in the field of China missions history, with a focus on the Miao people, True Light School for Women and other mission schools for women, and the Canton YMCA.
1994	o Sarah's paper on the Presbyterian Mission Home, Cameron House, in San Francisco, published in <i>Women and Chinese Patriarchy</i> , Jaschok and Miers, eds. (Hong Kong, 1994).
1995	o Sarah's paper on a former resident of Cameron House, San Francisco, published in <i>Minnesota History</i> (Spring, 1995). Sarah treated for breast cancer.
1996	<ul> <li>Sarah presented paper at Association for Asian Studies conference in Honolulu.</li> <li>Diagnosed with signs of early Alzheimer's disease.</li> </ul>

Date Event

1997-2002 Sarah's illness progressed. She died on June 27, 2002. For full chronology and list of

positions and publications, see Biographical Documentation in Box 40, Folder 444.

## **Scope and Contents**

This collection contains valuable primary source materials collected by Sarah Refo Mason in the course of her research projects, as well as her own writings and notes, and documentation of the work of her parents in China.

Series I, Missionary Children Research Materials, contains documentation gathered by Sarah Refo Mason while preparing her 1978 dissertation: "Missionary Conscience and the Comprehension of Imperialism: A Study of the Children of American Missionaries to China 1900-1949." Mason sent out questionnaires, conducted interviews, and did extensive archival research while preparing her thesis. The bulk of these files are organized under the individual names of persons, with many of the folders including correspondence with the person since 1978. There is also a sequence of interview tapes, also arranged by individual name and sections of background material related to missions in China and U.S. Foreign Service relations with China. Mason's research skills and her shared China "mish-kid" experience gained her the confidence of those she was working with, and in some cases the missionary children gave her correspondence and writings related to their work or the work of their parents. The materials in this Series provide a valuable complement to other papers held at the Yale Divinity Library, particularly the Ady, Barnett, Bates, Bright, Cross, Fenn, Foster, Goodrich, Lobenstine, McCracken, Mills, Nasmith, Pickens, Roberts, Smythe, and Thomson materials.

Series II, Canton YMCA Research Materials, contains correspondence, notes, and collected materials related to Mason's research interest in the YMCA in China and a paper on the Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA that she wrote in 1991. They include her interview notes and an extensive correspondence from 1982 to 1998 with two leading officials in the Guangzhou YMCA, George Wong (Wong Yidun), executive secretary, and Samuel Shao (Shao Mingyao), program secretary, as well as files of papers pertaining to Edward Lockwood, W.W. Lockwood, Orrin Magill, Harry Brunger, and other individuals related to the YMCA in China. Some of these papers are original; others are copies of papers in family archives or from the YMCA archives in Minneapolis. There is a file of photographs of Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA buildings, staff, and members, as well as copies of numerous documents such as annual reports and periodicals.

Series III, True Light Middle School Research Materials, represents the beginning of Mason's research in preparation for a book on women in China missions, focusing on the experiences of both staff and students at True Light Middle School. Mason began making contact with former students during a trip to China in 1982. She made further contacts with alumnae living in China in the late 1980s and spent several weeks interview former students in San Francison in 1990. Mason's research and interview notes are contained in this series as well as tapes of interviews with former students and photographs. Some material in Series VI, Henry and Sarah F. Refo Family Papers, also pertains to True Light Middle School. Mason's mother went to China in 1919 under the auspices of the Women's Presbyterian Board of Missions and served as a teacher of English, geography, and nutrition at True Light Middle School for Girls in Guangzhou (Canton) from 1919 to 1924. Mason's parents were both employed by True Light Middle School, which had relocated to Hong Kong during the Sino-Japanese War, from 1939 to 1942, and again beginning in 1946 when the school had returned to Guangzhou (Canton). Documents related to True Light teaching staff also include copies of corresponence Jean McPherson (Pomerenke) from the early 1920s and letters and research notes of Dorothy Fisher.

Series IV, Women in China Missions Research Materials, complements the True Light Middle School files. This material focuses on other mission schools for girls as well as containing general background material on women in China missions. There is a substantial section of material related to Mei Wa School in Guangzhou (Canton). This material includes copies of papers and letters given to Mason by Mary Nelson Denison, daughter of the school's founders.

Series V, Lingnan University Research Materials, contains notes and documents relating to the school's history, photographs, and papers of some of the individuals affiliated with the university during the 1920s

and 1930s. One file contains materials given to Mason by Jesse Angell Weekes, who came to Guangzhou (Canton) in 1915 with the YWCA, but whose husband, Ernest taught earlier at Lingnan. Other materials were contributed by Ingeborg Stolle, who taught at Lingnan in the 1930s. Mason also had correspondence with former Lingnan faculty members Franklin Wallace and William Augur. Material contributed by Augur includes a book of long, detailed letters, with accompanying news clippings, written by Augur to his family in 1925-1926. These letters provide the perspective of a former Lingnan University faculty member and current employee of the Canton Hospital, on the political events in Guangzhou (Canton) during that period, which led to the closing of the hospital and changes in Lingnan's management. The materials in this series complement other YDSL holdings in the Archives of the Trustees of Lingnan University, Record Group No. 14 and the Archives of the United Board for Christian Higher Education in Asia, Record Group No. 11.

Series VI, Hmong (Miao) People Research Materials, includes research notes, correspondence, tapes, photos, and other materials relating to Mason's field visits in 1987. The tapes include recordings of Miao music. This series also contains background materials collected by Mason, relating to the Hmong (Miao) people.

Series VII, Presbyterian Mission Home, San Francisco Research Materials, contains materials related to Mason's research on the Mission Home, which was later known as the Donaldina Cameron House. According to the web site for the Cameron House, which still exists in San Francisco, it was founded by the Presbyterian Church as the Occidental Mission Home for Girls in 1874, with the goal of intervening on behalf of young, Asian, immigrant females who had become vulnerable and disenfranchised upon arrival into the United States. "These women and girls were smuggled into the United States thereby circumventing immigration laws that excluded them. Asian women were commodities that were bought and sold (by their own families in many cases) as property in a system that became known as the 'yellow slave trade.' Bogus 'contracts' were created to enforce this system of slavery in which Asian women became domestics or prostitutes. The contractual conditions specified insurmountable recourse for women to purchase their own freedom. The number of Asian immigrant women who died in enslaved conditions in San Francisco was in the thousands. Miss Donaldina Cameron came to the Occidental Mission Home as a sewing teacher; she stayed forty years devoting her life as a missionary creating a foundation and tradition of competency assisting Asian women who were victimized by violence and racial discrimination." The materials gathered by Mason include annual reports of the Occidental Board of the Women's Foreign Missionary Society of the Presbyterian Church of the Pacific Coast, copies of legal documents from the National Archives pertaining to the illegal importation of Chinese women for "immoral purposes," material related to Lorna Logan, a former director of Cameron House, other documents related to the history and current activities of Cameron House, and background material about the Chinese in America.

Series VIII, Henry and Sarah F. Refo Family Papers, is comprised of letters, family histories, personal documents, photographs, and other papers of Henry Refo (1898-1993), his first wife, Sarah Alice (Sally) Flaniken (1895-1956), and his second wife, Muriel Lockwood (1899-1991). Henry taught at Lingnan University from 1920-1937 and at True Light Middle School from 1939-1941 and 1945-1951. Sarah Alice taught at True Light Middle School beginning in 1919. Muriel first went to China under the Methodist Board in 1919. Her second husband was Edward Lockwood (1887-1957), who served with the Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA. Henry and Muriel were married in 1960. Sarah Mason gathered together many letters that her mother had written to her sisters and other relatives; the originals letters (1919-1948) plus a transcription and compilation of the letters into a book, completed in 1998, are available. Of note are a long letter that Sarah Alice Refo wrote while on board the Gripsholm describing their family life in Hong Kong during the first months of the war, and numerous documents related to the family's internment at Stanley Prison. This series also includes research notes, interviews, and correspondence of Sarah Refo Mason with her parents. Correspondence between Sarah Mason and Henry and Muriel Refo during the 1980s includes lengthy discussion of meetings with former students and staff of Lingnan and True Light Middle School, YMCA officials, retired missionaries and their children, and sharing of reminiscences of Guangzhou (Canton) during the 1920s-1940s. Also of interest in this series are materials related to holiday vacation places frequented by the Refos and other missionaries - Loh fau, located northeast of Guangzhou (Canton), and Laan tau Island, Hong Kong, and files on the two Chinese women who worked for the Refo family, Ah Laan and Ah Tuen.

Series IX, Re. the Life and Work of Sarah Refo Mason, includes biographical information about Mason, writings and presentations by her, correspondence with colleagues and organizations, and some additional collected research materials that not relate specifically to Series I - VII, or were received separately. The handwritten diary of Margaret Lewis McCalla, a missionary daughter, provides an account of her journey from Tennessee to Hunan Province, China.

## Arrangement

- I. Missionary Children Research Materials
- II. Canton YMCA Research Materials
- III. True Light Middle School Research Materials
- IV. Women in China Missions Research Materials
- V. Lingnan University Research Materials
- VI. Hmong (Miao) People Research Materials
- VII. Presbyterian Mission Home, San Francisco Research Materials
- VIII. Henry and Sarah F. Refo Family Papers
- IX. Re. life and work of Sarah Refo Mason

# **Collection Contents**

# Series I: Missionary Children Research Materials

	Re. SRM Dissertation
b. 1, f. 1	Dissertation:"Missionary Conscience and the Comprehension of Imperialism: 1978 A Study of the Children of American Missionaries to China 1900-1949." Ph.D. thesis, Northern Illinois University
b. 1, f. 2	Research questionnaires
b. 1, f. 3	Research and notes
b. 27, f. 183	Additional research notes
b. 1, f. 4	Outline and prospectus
b. 2, f. 9	Statistics
b. OV1	Card file on children of missionaries
	Research files on missionary children
	Information and documents
b. 2, f. 10	A: Family names beginning with "A": Alf, Allen, Allison, Anderson, Armstrong, Arnold
b. 1, f. 5	A: Correspondence with Carolyn Ady
b. 2, f. 6-7	A: Ady parents' letters to their parents 1923-1927
b. 2, f. 6-7 b. 2, f. 8	A: Ady parents' letters to their parents  A: Robert and Don Ady
b. 2, f. 8	A: Robert and Don Ady
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13 b. 3, f. 14	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13 b. 3, f. 14 b. 3, f. 15	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Barnett children
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13 b. 3, f. 14 b. 3, f. 15 b. 3, f. 16	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Barnett children  B: Ed Berckman's diary and letters  B: Barr, Bartlett, Bates, Bercovitz, Bickford, Bingham, Boone, Brady,
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13 b. 3, f. 14 b. 3, f. 15 b. 3, f. 16 b. 3, f. 17	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Barnett children  B: Ed Berckman's diary and letters  B: Barr, Bartlett, Bates, Bercovitz, Bickford, Bingham, Boone, Brady, Brewster, Bright, Brownell, Burkwell
b. 2, f. 8 b. 2, f. 11 b. 2, f. 12 b. 3, f. 13 b. 3, f. 14 b. 3, f. 15 b. 3, f. 16 b. 3, f. 17 b. 3, f. 18	A: Robert and Don Ady  B: to Barnett  B: Doak and Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Doak Barnett  B: Articles by Robert Barnett  B: Articles by Barnett children  B: Ed Berckman's diary and letters  B: Barr, Bartlett, Bates, Bercovitz, Bickford, Bingham, Boone, Brady, Brewster, Bright, Brownell, Burkwell  C: Cadbury, Clark, Clive, Congdon, Corpron, Crawford, Coffin, Cross

#### Research files on missionary children > Information and documents (continued)

b. 4, f. 22	D: John Paton Davies, articles as ambassador to China; Foreign Relations Updates	1939-44
b. 4, f. 23	D: John Paton Davies, articles as ambassador to China; Foreign Relations Updates	1944-48
b. 4, f. 24	E-F: Edward, Endicott, Farnham, Fenn, Fisher, Foster, Frank, Fuson	
b. 4, f. 25	G: Galt, Gillespie, Gilson, Gleystone, Goheen, Goodrich, Greider, Griggs	
b. 4, f. 26	H-K: Hayes, Herrmann, Hinton, Hoffmann, Hummel, Huntington Smith, Karcher, Koeppe	
b. 5, f. 27	L: Lacy, Laird, Latimer, Lautenschlager, Lee, Lincoln, Lobenstine, Lockwood	
b. 5, f. 28	L: Lockwood, Luce, Lutz, Lynn	
b. OV1	L: Richard Lockwood slides of China	
b. 5, f. 29	L: William Lockwood, articles and reports	
b. 5, f. 30	L: William Lockwood, articles and reports	
b. 5, f. 31	M: McCracken, McDaniel, Markle, McGinnis, McClure, McMillan, Mabee, Magill	
b. 5, f. 32	M: Martinson, Mather, Metcalf, Mills, Morris	
b. 5, f. 33	N: Nasmith, Nelson, Nilsen	
b. 5, f. 34	N: Frida Nilson - Midwest China Oral History Parts 1 and 2	
b. 6, f. 35	O: Oldt, Oliver, Overhalt	
b. 6, f. 36	P: Parker, Pickens, Proctor, Pruitt	
b. 6, f. 37	P: Ida Pruitt letters to S.S. President Coolidge	1939
b. 6, f. 38	P: Watts and Lucian Pye	
b. 6, f. 39	P: Lucian Pye articles	
b. 6, f. 40	R: Refo, Rice, Rhoads, Roberts, Roots, Roy, Rugh	
b. 6, f. 41	S: Scovel papers	
b. 27, f. 180	S: Scovel papers	
b. 7, f. 42-44	S: John S. Service articles	
b. <b>7</b> , f. <b>45</b>	S: Scovel, Seaton, Sheretz, Shoop, Smythe	
b. <b>7</b> , f. <b>46-47</b>	S: Lewis Smythe Dissertation	
b. 8, f. 48	S: Lewis Smythe article on Shanghai Incident	
b. 8, f. 49	S: Mardie Smythe	
b. 8, f. 50	S: Peggie Smythe - Arne Sovik	

#### Research files on missionary children > Information and documents (continued)

b. <b>27</b> , f. 181	S: Edward Sovik collected writings	
b. 27, f. 182	S: R. E. Stannard articles	
b. 8, f. 51	S: Gertrude Sovik, Steiner, Stewart, Stockwell, Swan, Sydenstricker (Pearl Buck)	
b. 8, f. 52	T: Alan Thomson	
b. 8, f. 53	T -V: Tewksbury, Thompson, Thomson, Thoroughman, Topping, Tregear, Turner, Tyng, Van Evera, Van Gorder, Van der Meer, Veenschoten	
b. 8, f. 54	W - Z: Walburn, Walker, Wall, Wallace, Walline, Wentworth, Whitesi Westwick, Wilbur, Williams, Willis, Willmott, Wilson, Womeldorf, Workman, Woods, Yocum	de,
	Audiotapes of interviews	
b. 9, f. 56	A: Ady - Allen	
b. 9, f. 57	A -B: Armstrong - Barnett	
b. 9, f. 58	B -D: Barnett - Davies	
b. 9, f. 59	F: Fisher - Frank	
b. 10, f. 60	F -K: Frank - Koeppe	
b. 10, f. 61	G - L: Grasser - Lockwood	
b. 10, f. 62	L - M: Lautenschlager - Martinson	
b. 10, f. 63	M - O: Mills - Overholt	
b. 10, f. 64	P - R: Pickens - Refo	
b. 11, f. 65	R - S: Rugh - Smythe	
b. 11, f. 66	S: Scovel - Steel	
b. 11, f. 67	T - W: Thomson-Wilbur	
b. 11, f. 68	W: Wilson-Wentworth	
В	ackground material: China Missions	
b. 27, f. 184	American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions	
b. <b>27</b> , f. 185	Bishop Bashford to Secy. Bryan	1915
b. 27, f. 186	Carleton Archives: 'Carleton in China'	
b. 27, f. 187	Carleton Archives: Carleton Mission	
b. 27, f. 188	Chinese Cities	
b. 28, f. 189	China Mission Year Book 1910, 1926, 1936-7, 1938-9	1910-1939
b. 28, f. 190	Chinese Recorder	1936

#### Background material: China Missions (continued)

b. 28, f. 191	Walter Juddon White Paper	
b. 28, f. 192	Lutheran Mission in Henan (Honan)	
b. 28, f. 193-195	LWF Marxism and China Study	
b. 28, f. 196	Miscellaneous documents	
b. 28, f. 197	MissionsProtestant	
b. 28, f. 198	Missionary Research Library	
b. 28, f. 199	"Modernism and Missions, 1870-1930: the Search for an Exportable Christianity" by William R. Hutchison	1972
b. 28, f. 200	Oral History Project Overview, Claremont Graduate School	1973
b. 28, f. 201	Roy, David: Kuo Mo-Jo	
b. 28, f. 202	Lewis Smythe	1931
Вас	kground material: China-U.S. Foreign Service	
b. 29, f. 203	Cressey, George: letter to State Department	
b. 29, f. 204	FRUS	1942-1943
b. 29, f. 205	FRUS: on U.S. Policy	1942-1943
b. 29, f. 206	FRUS: Hurley resignation and Ludden reports	1945
b. 29, f. 207	Institute of Pacific Relations	1963
b. 29, f. 208	Institute of Pacific Relations: documents regarding missionary children	
b. 29, f. 209	MacArthur and the Missionaries	
b. 29, f. 210	Marshall's Mission to China	
b. 29, f. 211	Occupation policy for Japan	
b. 29, f. 212	The State-War-Navy Coordinating Committee	1945
b. 29, f. 213	U.SChina Policy: Misc. 1970's	1970
b. 29, f. 214	U.S. Foreign Service	
b. 29, f. 215	U.S. policy toward China: post-World War II	
b. 29, f. 216	USSR Information Bulletin	1945

### Series II: Canton YMCA Research Materials

b. 11, f. 69	Correspondence with Frank Leung, Alice Jim, and others planning visit to Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA	1990s
b. 11, f. 70	Correspondence with Helen Sun and Dorthy Jimru	
b. 11, f. 71	Research on Maud Russell: YMCA Missionary 1917	
b. 11, f. 72	Paper - "Between Social Salvation and Cultural Imperialism"	1991
b. 12, f. 73	Research materials	1988-1991
b. 12, f. 74	Index for Annual Reports of Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA	1913-1919
b. 12, f. 75	Chinese Articles on Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA	
b. 12, f. 76	Review of Jun Xing book	1999
b. 12, f. 77	Photos	
b. 12, f. 78	Interview with General Secretary George Wong (Wong Yidun)	
b. 12, f. 79	George Wong correspondence and articles	1988-1992
b. 12, f. 80	Notes on George Wong	
b. 13, f. 81	Correspondence with Samuel Shao (Shao Mingyao)	1982-1989
b. 13, f. 82	Ed Lockwood articles and reports	1930-1940s
b. 13, f. 83	Ed Lockwood files from archives	1930-1940s
b. 13, f. 84	Ed Lockwood articles and papers	1920s-1930s
b. 13, f. 85	Correspondence with Harry Brunger	1980-1990s
b. 13, f. 86	Harry Brunger: reports and journal	1940-1950s
b. 13, f. 87	Reports and papers of S. C. Leung 1920 Gen Sec. of YMCA-First Chinese	
b. 14, f. 88	William Lockwood: Papers, Peter Yeo dissertation on Lockwood	1985
b. 14, f. 89	Orrin Magill papers and notes	
b. 14, f. 90a	Missionaries H-J's: Hayes-Leiser	
b. 14, f. 90b	Y.L. Lee-report on Labor situation in Canto	1928
b. 14, f. 91	Y.L. Lee-articles	1928
b. 14, f. 92	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA publications in Chinese	
b. 15, f. 93-98	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA documents and reports	1910-1940s
b. 15, f. 99	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA early history	
b. 16, f. 100	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA background articles and reports	1920-1930s
b. 16, f. 101	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA interview notes	1990s

b. 16, f. 102	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA Photos and correspondence	
b. 16, f. 103	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA Publications in Chinese	
b. 16, f. 104	Elsie Anderson's books YWCA worker in Guangzhou (Canton) in the 1920s - also involved with True Light Middle School and women students at Lingnan.	
b. 17, f. 105	Music collection of Elsie Anderson	
b. 17, f. 106	Publications by Ethel and Walworth Tyng	
b. 17, f. 107	Publications by Mary Tyng Higgins	
b. 17, f. 108	Photo album of Elsie Anderson (photos of YWCA, True Light MIddle School)	
b. 36, f. 354	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA: photos	1990
b. 36, f. 355	YMCA misc. correspondence	
b. 36, f. 356	YMCA references: the Christian Century	
b. 36, f. 357	YMCA Hong Kong: Agape	
b. 36, f. 358	Daniel C. Fu, "New Trends in the YMCA"	1941
b. 36, f. 359	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA notes	
b. 36, f. 360	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA miscellaneous documentation	
b. 36, f. 361	Tse King Suen Guangzhou YMCA	
b. 36, f. 362	Lingnan University	
b. 36, f. 363	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA references: Chinese Recorder	
b. 36, f. 364	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA materials	
b. 36, f. 365	Articles by Eugene E. Barnett	
b. 36, f. 366	Sherwood Eddy, "The Social Gospel in China"; Sidney L. Gulick, "The Church and a Warless World"; William A. Mather, "Achievement in Self-support"	1923
b. 36, f. 367	Garrett notes	
b. 37, f. 368	Richard P. Madsen, "The Student Christian Movement and Chinese Nationalism: 1927-1937"	
b. 37, f. 369	Rhoads Murphy, "Observations on War in China, 1942-1946"	1995
b. 37, f. 370	YMCA misc.	
b. 37, f. 371	YMCA archivesUniversity of Minnesota	
b. 40, f. 439	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA: Proposals	
b. 40, f. 440	Guangzhou (Canton) YMCA: Chung Ming Kwong	

# Series III: True Light Middle School Research Materials

b. 17, f. 109a	Photos; see also Elsie Anderson photo album, Box 17, Folder 108	
b. 17, f. 109b	History 1872-1967	
b. 18, f. 110	History documents	1920s
b. 18, f. 111	50th year - yearbook	
b. 18, f. 112	Publications	
b. 18, f. 113-115	Correspondence with alumni	1981-1999, n.d.
b. 18, f. 116	Correspondence with Shus	
b. 18, f. 117	Faculty: Ruth Craft	
b. 19, f. 118	Faculty: Fairies - Fisher	
b. 19, f. 119	Faculty: Howell - McPherson (Pomerenke)	
b. 19, f. 120-121	Faculty: Jean McPherson (Pomerenke) letters	1917-1926
b. 19, f. 122	Faculty: Noyes - "A Light in the Land"	
b. 19, f. 123	Faculty: Noyes Letters	
b. 19, f. 124	Former students: interview tapes	
b. 20, f. 125	Former students: interview notes	1993-1995
b. 40, f. 441	True Light and other missionary schools for young women: notes	1994

#### Series IV: Women in China Missions Research Materials

b. 20, f. 126	Schools for girls in China	
b. 20, f. 127	Mary Nelson Denison taped interview	
b. 20, f. 128	Photos of Mei-Wa School	
b. 20, f. 129	Publications of Mei-Wa School	
b. 20, f. 130	Nelson Family articles and letters	
b. 20, f. 131	Nelson family letters	
b. 20, f. 132	Charles Nelson later correspondence	1940s
b. 20, f. 133	Notes on women missionaries	1990s
b. 21, f. 134	Articles on women missionaries	1980s-1990s
b. 21, f. 135	Articles on women missionaries	1930s-1990s
b. 21, f. 136	Articles on female social roles	
b. 21, f. 137	Articles on women in China missions:	1970s
b. 21, f. 138	Articles on effects of missionaries	1920s-1970s
b. 21, f. 139	Articles evaluating missions work in China	1970s
b. 21, f. 140	Women in China Missions: A - M	
b. 21, f. 141	Women in China Missions: Smythe-China Missions Oral project	
b. 22, f. 142	Women in China Missions: N -T	

# Series V: Lingnan University Research Materials

b. 22, f. 143	Science Journal Vol. 14 and 15	1935-1936
b. 22, f. 144	Photos	
b. 22, f. 145	Articles from Archives	
b. 22, f. 146	Historical Publications	
b. 22, f. 147	Alumni Magazine	1992-1993
b. 23, f. 148	Interview with Henry Refo and Borodin	
b. 23, f. 149	Articles	1918
b. 23, f. 150	Publications	1989-1990
b. 23, f. 151	Interviews with students	
b. 23, f. 152	Alumni Directory	
b. 23, f. 153	Faculty: William Augur articles	
b. 23, f. 154	Faculty: William Augur-correspondence	1980-86
b. 23, f. 155	Faculty: articles and corespondence	
b. 24, f. 156	Faculty: J. Fisher	
b. 24, f. 158	Faculty: articles and correspondence	
b. 24, f. 159	Faculty: Jesse Weekes	
b. 24, f. 160	Faculty: Dr. Thomson and Canton Hospital	
b. 24, f. 161	Articles about University and Guangzhou (Canton)	

## Series VI: Hmong (Miao) People Research Materials

#### Notes and collected material

b. 40, f. 438	Research Proposal: Miao in China	1987-1988
b. 29, f. 217	Ding, Phillip	
b. 29, f. 218	Folktale (S.W. China) ContactsProfessors Hoang and Guo (Kunming)	1987
b. 29, f. 219	Gong Zhe-Bing: Miao Research, S.W. China	
b. 29, f. 220	Gong Zhe-Bing: student field tests	
b. 29, f. 221	A Happy Peoplethe Miaos	1988
b. 29, f. 222	Chinese photo book	
b. 30, f. 223	Hmong/Miao issue (as name)	
b. 30, f. 224	Research notes	
b. 30, f. 224A	Audio cassette tapes	1987
b. 30, f. 225	Photos: Hunan and Guizhou, Fenghuang, Shanjiang, Qiantong, Gao Zai	
b. 30, f. 226	Report to SARSHunan	
b. 30, f. 227	SRM notes on visits to Miao Communities in S.W. China	1987
b. 30, f. 228	Nicholas Tapp: Conference on Ethnicity and Ethnic Groups in China	1988
b. 30, f. 229	Xu Xiao-Yi, Huaxi Hotel, Miao Research, S.W. China	
Arti	icles re. Hmong (Miao)	
b. 30, f. 230	Inez de Beauclair, "A Miao Tribe of Southeast Kweichow and its Cultural Configuration"	1970
b. 30, f. 231	Geo. Edgar Betts, "Social Life of the Miao Tsi"	1899
b. 30, f. 232	A Bibliography of the Hmong (Miao)	1983
b. 30, f. 233	John Blofeld, "Some Hilltribes of North Thailand (Miaos and Yaos)"	
b. 30, f. 234	B. Bourotte, "Mariages et funerailles chez les Meo blancs de la region de Nong-Het (Tran Ninh)"	1943
b. 30, f. 235	Norma Diamond, "The Miao and Poison: Interactions on China's Southwest Frontier"	1988
b. 30, f. 236	Rev. J. Edkins, "The Miau Tsi Tribes: Their History"	1870
b. 30, f. 237	Fei Xiaotong, "Revisiting the Mountains of the Yao People"	1979
b. 30, f. 238	W. R. Geddes, "Opium and the Miao: a Study in Ecological Adjustment"	1970
b. 30, f. 239	Hmong/Miao in China and SEA and Australia	
b. 30, f. 240	A.L. Kroeber, "Miao and Chinese Kin Logic"	1958

#### Articles re. Hmong (Miao) (continued)

b. 30, f. 241	Frank M. Labor, ed., "Miao-Yao" in Ethnic Groups of Mainland Southeast Asia	1964
b. 30, f. 242	Lin Yueh-Hwa, "The Miao-Man Peoples of Kweichow"	1941
b. 30, f. 243	Liu Chungshee Hsien, "The Dog-Ancestor Story of the Aboriginal Tribes of Southern China"	1932
b. 31, f. 244	Miao in China	
b. 31, f. 245	The Mien	1981
b. 31, f. 246	J. Mottin, "History of the Hmong"	
b. 31, f. 247	Ruey Yih-Fu	1962
b. 31, f. 248	Ruey Yih-Fu, "The Magpie Miao of Southern Szechuan"	1960
b. 31, f. 249	Ruey Yih-Fu, "A Study of the Miao People"	1967
b. 31, f. 250	Ruey Yih-Fu, "Terminological Structure of the Miao Kinship System"	1958
b. 31, f. 251	F.M. Savina, <i>Histoire des Miao</i>	1924
b. 31, f. 252	Robert Shafer, "Classification of the Sino-Tibetan Languages"	1955
b. 31, f. 253	Y. Shiratori, "Concerning the Racial and Cultural Relation of the Miao"	1960

# Series VII: Presbyterian Mission Home (Cameron House), San Francisco Research Materials, 1991

b. 31, f. 254	Matthew Fong	1991
b. 31, f. 255	Red notebook: A - Cameron	
b. 31, f. 256	Blue notebook	
b. 31, f. 257	M. PetersonSan Francisco Theological Seminary	
b. 31, f. 258	Liang May Seen: influence on descendants	
b. 31, f. 259	Colleen Fong	1998
b. 31, f. 260	Qui Fah	1892
b. 31, f. 261	Misc. Notes	
b. 31, f. 262	Chinese prostitutes (Chuck and Logan)	
b. 31, f. 263	Cameron House Papers	
b. 31, f. 264	"The Influence of San Francisco's Presbyterian Mission Home on the Chinese Women Residents of the Home and Their Descendants"	1995
b. 32, f. 265	Research Paper on Cameron HouseHK Conference and Publication (includes floppy disk)	
b. 38, f. 388	Cameron House papers (includes floppy disc)	1991-1996
b. 38, f. 389	Articles on Cameron House	
b. 32, f. 266	Zed Press References for Chinese Patriarchy	
b. 32, f. 267	Cameron Houserecent programs	
b. 32, f. 268	Ernest Wu/Cameron House	
b. 32, f. 269	Pastor Harry Chuck, Margaret, and Liang May Seen	
b. 32, f. 270	Photographs and SlidesCameron House	
b. 32, f. 271	Interview tapes: Lorna Logan	1990-1991
b. 32, f. 272	Lorna E. Logan, Ventures in Mission: the Cameron House Story	1976
b. 32, f. 273	Lorna Logan	
b. 32, f. 274	Cameron House and Lorna Logan	
b. 32, f. 275	Lorna Logan PHS	
b. 32, f. 276	Arthur Brown on Donaldina Cameron	1932
b. 32, f. 277	Mildred Crowl Martin, Chinatown's Angry Angel: the Story of Donaldina Cameron	1977
b. 32, f. 278	McClain, "D. Cameron: a Reappraisal"	1983

b. 32, f. 279	Misc. D. Cameron Documents	
b. 32, f. 280	Mildred Martin on Cameron	1969
b. 33, f. 281	Carol Green Wilson, Chinatown Quest: One Hundred Years of Donaldina Cameron House 1874-1974	1974
b. 33, f. 282	Peggy Pascoe	1989
b. 33, f. 283	Margaret Culbertson	
b. 33, f. 284	Donaldina Cameron and Tien Wu dataPHS	
b. 33, f. 285	Muriel Wing	
b. 33, f. 286	Tien Fuh Wu	
b. 33, f. 287	Martha Yick: New York Chinatown funeral director	
b. 33, f. 288	Julia Morgan	
b. 33, f. 289	May Wong PHS	
b. 33, f. 290	The Occident: Ng Poon Chew and Chun Fah	1892-1893
b. 33, f. 291	Rev. Ng Poon-Chew, "Mission Work Among the Chinese in San Francisco"	1909
b. 33, f. 292	San Francisco Chinatown Christians	
b. 33, f. 293	E.V. Robbins, "Our Forty Years: 1873-1913"	1913
b. 33, f. 294	Pauline Robbins	
b. 33, f. 295	Article on Mission Home	1937
b. 33, f. 296	The Occident: "A Bit of Romance at '920' [Cameron House]"	1900
b. 33, f. 297	Eva Clark Waid, "At Work Among the Chinese in America"	
b. 33, f. 298	Donaldina Cameron, "New Lives for Old in Chinatown"	1934
b. 33, f. 299	"Register of Inmates" 1877-1900's: vol. 1	
b. 33, f. 300	"Register of Inmates" 1877-1900's: vol. 2	
b. 33, f. 301	"Register of Inmates" 1877-1900's: vol. 3	
b. 33, f. 302	Charles R. Shepherd, "Chinese Girl Slavery in America"	1923
b. 33, f. 303	Lucie Cheng Hirata, "Free, Indentured, Enslaved: Chinese Prostitutes in Nineteenth Century America"	1979
b. 33, f. 304	Bibliography on White Slavery and Women	
b. 33, f. 305	Charles Frederick Holder, "Chinese Slavery in America"	1897
b. 33, f. 306	Elizabeth Andrew and Katherine Bushnell, "Heathen Slaves and Christian Rulers"	1907
b. 33, f. 307	The Chinese Recorder	

b. 34, f. 308	C. Bruce Staiger, "Abolitionism and the Presbyterian Schism of 1837-1838"	
b. 34, f. 309	Presbyterian Church in Chinatown: 120th Anniversary Report (1853-1973)	1973
b. 34, f. 310	Chinese Church in U.S.A.	
b. 34, f. 311	Chinese Presbyterian Church, School, etc., in San Francisco	1866
b. 34, f. 312	S.F. Theological Sem.: M. Peterson	
b. 34, f. 313	Documentation: PHS	
b. 34, f. 314	Presbyterian Historical Society	
b. 34, f. 315	Presbyterian Societies	
b. 34, f. 316	Clifford Merrill Drury, "Presbyterian Panorama"	1952
b. 34, f. 317	Pearl Ng: Bibliography on Chinese in California	
b. 34, f. 318	John K. C. Liu, Christopher L. Yip, and Sara Ishikawa, "San Francisco Chinatown and its Residential Hotels: the Everyday Environment of the Chinese-American Elderly"	1980
b. 34, f. 319	Annie Soo, "Chinese Settlement at Columbia"	
b. 34, f. 320	Suellen Cheng, "A Report on the Southern California Chinese American Oral History Project"	1980
b. 34, f. 321	Loh, Homer Ch'i Ch'en	
b. 34, f. 322	Philadelphia Chinatown	
b. 34, f. 323	Chinese in U.SBibliography	
b. 34, f. 324	Rose Hum Lee, "Chinese Christian Churches", "The Decline of Chinatowns in the United States"	
b. 34, f. 325	Chinese in Arizona	
b. 34, f. 326	Dennis Loo, "Why an Asian American Theology of Liberation?"	1974
b. 34, f. 327	Delia Wong Stephens, "Chinese-Americans in Kansas City"	1980
b. 34, f. 328	Chinese in U.S.: women	1980
b. 34, f. 329	James W. Loewen, "The Mississippi Chinese: Between Black and White"	1971
b. 34, f. 330	Stanford M. Lyman, "Social Demography of the Chinese and Japanese in the U.S. of America"	1970
b. 34, f. 331	Grant K. Anderson, "Deadwood's China"	1975
b. 34, f. 332	Edward J.M. Rhoads, "The Chinese in Texas"	
b. 34, f. 333	Chinese in New York City	
b. 34, f. 334	Daniel Liestman, "'To Win Redeemed Souls from Heathen Darkness': Protestant Response to the Chinese of the Pacific Northwest in the Late Nineteenth Century"	1993
b. 34, f. 335	Chinese-American Family Structure	

b. 34, f. 336	Chinese in U.S.: miscellaneous	
b. 34, f. 337	Colloquium on Overseas Chinese	1957
b. 34, f. 338	Sue Fawn Chung, "A Brief History of the Chinese in Nevada"	1980
b. 34, f. 339	Chinese in Hawaii	
b. 35, f. 340	National Archives	
b. 35, f. 341	John S. Mosby and David Bailey: letters	
b. 35, f. 342	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Index of Contents	
b. 35, f. 343	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 1-6	1874-1879
b. 35, f. 344	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 7-12	1880-1885
b. 35, f. 345	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 13	1886
b. 35, f. 346	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 14-16	1887-1889
b. 35, f. 347	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 19	1892
b. 35, f. 348	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 20-26	1893-1899
b. 35, f. 349	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 27-30	1900-1903
b. 36, f. 350	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 31-34	1904-1907
b. 36, f. 351	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 35-38	1908-1911
b. 36, f. 352	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 39, 41-46	1912-1919
b. 36, f. 353	Reports of the Women's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions: Annual Report: 47	1920

# Series VIII: Henry and Sarah F. Refo Family Papers, 1978-1983

b. 24, f. 162	Correspondence	1978-1983
b. 24, f. 163a	Photos	
b. 25, f. 163b	Correspondence	1984-1988
b. 25, f. 164	Sarah F. Refo documents and biographical information	
b. 25, f. 165	Sarah F. Refo letters	
b. 25, f. 166	Confession of Faith	
b. 25, f. 167	Correspondence of Henry Refo	1950s
b. 25, f. 168	Letters from China of Sarah F. Refo-Published	1917-1948
b. 25, f. 169-171	Sarah F. Refo letters	1918-1921
b. 26, f. 172	Sarah F. Refo letters	1940-1959
b. 26, f. 173	Muriel Lockwood Refo interview for Midwest Oral Project	1980
b. 26, f. 174	Henry Refo-letters and documents	
b. 26, f. 175	Henry Refo interview for Midwest Oral Project	1980
b. <b>26,</b> f. <b>176</b>	Correspondence with Chinese Employees of Refo's in the 1930s, Ah Laan and Ah Tuen	
b. 26, f. 177	WWII clippings and Prisoner Repatriation Lists	
b. 26, f. 178	Missionary holiday camps - Loh fau and Laan tau Island	

### Series IX: Re. life and work of Sarah Refo Mason

#### Biographical documentation

b. 40, f. 444	Chronology of SRM's life, CVs; autobiographical statement re. background for research on missionary children.	
b. 40, f. 445	Trips to China: notes and letters; article by Mason's daughter Rachel describing 1996 trip with Mason to bring home adopted Chinese daughter	1982, 1996
b. 40, f. 446	Zhongshan University Visit	
b. 41, f. 447	Notes and Journals at Zhongshan University: part 1	1986-1987
b. 41, f. 448	Notes and Journals at Zhongshan University: part 2	1986-1987
b. 41, f. 449	Notes and Journals at Zhongshan University: part 3	1986-1987
b. 41, f. 450	Notes	
b. 41, f. 451	Senior paper topics/grades	
b. 41, f. 452	Student papers	
b. 41, f. 453	Students of Sarah R. Mason	
b. 41, f. 454	Guangzhou Foreign Languages Institute	1986
b. 41, f. 455	Zhou Xing-ying	
b. 41, f. 456	Li Jiefang	
b. <b>41</b> , f. <b>457</b>	Reference Letter	1987
b. 41, f. 458	Professor Hu Jing Zhao	1983
b. 41, f. 459	Chen Na-fu	1991
Рар	ers, publications, and presentations by SRM	
b. 37, f. 372	"Protestant Liberals and Conservatives Among the China Missionaries: a Comparison of Religious Values and Cultural Interaction"	1977
b. 37, f. 373	"Women's Role in Two Korean United Methodist Congregations in Minnesota: Shaping the Church to Mutual Support and Ethnic Solidarity"	1980
b. 37, f. 374	"Family Structure and Acculturation in Minnesota's Chinese and Filipino Communities"	1979
b. 37, f. 375	Methodist Women's Conference, Cincinnati, Ohio	1980
b. 37, f. 376	"Family Structure and Acculturation in the Chinese Community in Minnesota"	1980
b. 37, f. 377	Lecture notes for Augsburg College, "Sisterhood of the Faith: Missionary Women and their Christian Converts in Early Twentieth Century China"	1982
b. 37, f. 378	"Liberating Chinese Womanhood: a Case Study in Missionary Feminism and Evangelism, 1915-1922"	1981

#### Papers, publications, and presentations by SRM (continued)

b. 26, f. 179	"Training Asian Women for Employment"	
b. 37, f. 379	National Women's Studies Association	
b. 37, f. 380	Berkshire Conference	
b. 38, f. 381	"Kinship, Community, and the Welfare State Public Policy and Hmong Families in St. Paul and Minneapolis, Minnesota	1983
b. 38, f. 382	History of Christianity in China Grant	1989-1990
b. 38, f. 383	Minnesota Historical Society Women's History Grants Program	1991-1992
b. 38, f. 384	"They Chose Minnesota: a Survey of the State's Ethnic Groups"	1981
b. 38, f. 385	"Identity and Social Conscience: the Role of Missionary Sons and Daughters in United States-China Relations, 1900-1949"	
b. 38, f. 386	Program of the 42nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Asian Studies, Inc.	1990
b. 38, f. 387	AAS Conference	1991
b. 38, f. 390	Minnesota Historical Society Program	1992
	Midwest China Study Resource CenterOral History Project	
b. 42, f. 460	Interviews, committee meetings, misc. correspondence	1976-1977
b. 42, f. 461	Benedictine Sisters	
b. 42, f. 462	Myron S. Burton	
b. 42, f. 463	Rev. Earl Dahlstron	
b. <b>42</b> , f. <b>464</b>	Ella and Clemens Granskou	
b. 42, f. 465	Beatrice Liu	
b. 42, f. 466	Ingeborg Stolee	
b. 42, f. 467	Borghilde Syrdal	
b. 42, f. 468	Rolf A. Syrdal	
b. 42, f. 469	Josef Wang	
b. 42, f. 470	Lutheran Literature Society for the Chinese	
	Correspondence with colleagues and others	
b. 38, f. 391	Daniel Bays	
b. 38, f. 392	Peggy Bell	1992
b. 38, f. 393	Hy Berman	
b. 38, f. 394	Alice M. Carpenter	
b. 38, f. 394A	Alice Chai	

#### Correspondence with colleagues and others (continued)

b. 38, f. 395	Winnie (Chu) and Gilbert Chan
b. 38, f. 396	Chen Sheng
b. 38, f. 397	Cheng Shujian
b. 38, f. 398	Winnie Chu
b. 38, f. 399	Joe Cunneen
b. 38, f. 400	Roger Daniels
b. 38, f. 401	Mariam Frenier
b. 38, f. 402	Fu Sai Si
b. 38, f. 403	Mary Furner
b. 39, f. 404	Jon Gjerde
b. 39, f. 405	Goo Gwei-Tsing and Van
b. 39, f. 406	Sue Gronewald
b. 39, f. 407	Susanna Hoe
b. 39, f. 408	Jerry Israel
b. 39, f. 409	Douglas Lee and Russell Leong
b. 39, f. 410	Li Jie Fang and Ziang Xiang-zhe
b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>411</b>	Li Zhao-xin and Huang Xing
b. 39, f. 412	Yaohui Liang
b. 39, f. 413	Kathleen Lodwick
b. 39, f. 414	Cynthia McLean
b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>415</b>	Larry MacDonald
b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>416</b>	Donald MacInnis
b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>417</b>	Karen Masen
b. 39, f. 418	Suzanne Miers
b. 39, f. 419	Arlene Neher
b. 39, f. 420	Barbara Nelson
b. 39, f. 421	Norman Owen
b. 39, f. 422	Carl Parrini
b. 39, f. 423	Barbara Posadas
b. <b>39</b> , f. <b>424</b>	Albert H. Quie

#### Correspondence with colleagues and others (continued)

b. 39, f. 425	Shen Yuin-Yin, Li Kuo-Fang	
b. 39, f. 426	James Shirley	
b. 39, f. 427	Arthur Tai	
b. 40, f. 428	Aadel Brun Tschida	
b. 40, f. 429	Nobuya Tsuchida	
b. 40, f. 430	Nancy Tucker	
b. 40, f. 431	Steve Upton	
b. 40, f. 432	Francis Johnstone White	
b. 40, f. 433	Helen White	
b. 40, f. 434	Franklin Woo	
b. 40, f. 435	Grace Yaukey	
b. 40, f. 436	Marilyn Young	
b. 40, f. 437	Joyce Lin-Yueh Yu	
	Correspondence with archives and organizations	
b. 42, f. 471	Archives	
b. 42, f. 472	National Archives	
b. 42, f. 473	University of Oregonmissionary collections	
b. 42, f. 474	Presbyterian Historical Society	
b. 42, f. 475	Yale Divinity School Library	
b. 42, f. 476	Chinese Historical Society of America	
b. 42, f. 477	China Mission Group	
b. 42, f. 478	National Conference of Chinese American Studies	1980
b. 42, f. 479	Northwest Regional China Council	1993-1994
b. 43, f. 480	Midwest Regional Seminar on China	1979
	Additional collected material and notes	
b. 40, f. 442	Lewis S. C. Smythe, "The Changing Missionary Message"; W. P. Mills, "Aids to an Understanding of Sun Yat Sen"; H. F. Rowe, "Preparation of An Adequate Chinese Ministry"	1929
b. 40, f. 443	Articles by A. J. Fisher	
b. 43, f. 481	Miscellaneous notes	1988-1992
b. 43, f. 482	Peter Cheng, "Agricultural Development and Rural Political Changes"	1976

#### Additional collected material and notes (continued)

b. 43, f. 483	Cheung Hin Yao	
b. 43, f. 484	A Message from Chinese Christians to Mission Boards Abroad	1949
b. 43, f. 485	The Marriage Law of the People's Republic of China	
b. 43, f. 486	Articles by John Collier on Cultural Revolution in Guangzhou (Canton)	1968
b. 43, f. 487	"China: A Demographic Crisis"	1963
b. 43, f. 488	Frank Dikotter, "Hairy Barbarians, Furry Primates and Wild Men: Cultural Representations of Hair in Modern China"	1993
b. 43, f. 489	Leigh Kagan articles	
b. 43, f. 490	Penne Laingen, "Letters of an American Teacher in China, 1910-1913"	1987
b. 43, f. 491	Angus McDonald, "Revolution and counter-revolution in Hunan Province"	1975
b. 43, f. 492	James M. McCutcheon, "Protestant Missionaries in Asia and the Pacific: Agents of Change for What Purpose?"	
b. 24, f. 157	J. Medard thesis and memoir: French Protestant minister's thesis written in early 1920s on Protestant missions in China. Medard attended the World Student Christian Federation conference in Peking (Beijing) in 1922.	
b. 43, f. 493	National Geographic on China	1927
b. 43, f. 494	Joseph Needham	
b. 43, f. 495	Ellen C. Parsons, "A History of Woman's Organized Missionary Work"	1893
b. 43, f. 496	Murray A. Rubinstein, "Christianity in China: One Scholar's Perspective of the State of the Research in China Mission and China Christian History, 1964-1986"	
b. 43, f. 497	Article on Arthur Rugh	1926
b. 43, f. 498	Articles by Ruth and Victor W. Sidel	
b. 43, f. 499	Articles by Edgar Snow	
b. 43, f. 500	Lyman P. Van Slyke, "Glimpses of Guerrilla War: North China, 1940 and 1941"	1992
b. 43, f. 501	Wen-hsing Wu, "Mainland Chinese Migrants in Taiwan in the 1920's: Some Social Issues and Problems"	1989
b. 9, f. 55	Diary of Margaret McCa	1906

#### **Selected Search Terms**

The following terms have been used to index the description of this collection in the Library's online catalog. They are grouped by name of person or organization, by subject or location, and by occupation and listed alphabetically therein.

#### **Subjects**

Children of missionaries -- China Chinese -- Missions -- California -- San Francisco Hmong (Asian people) -- China Missionaries Women -- Education -- China

#### **Names**

Mason, Sarah Margaret Refo

## **Corporate Bodies**

Donaldina Cameron House Ling nan da xue (Guangzhou, China) Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. Woman's Occidental Board of Foreign Missions True Light Middle School, Hong Kong Young Men's Christian Associations of China